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Il. VARIACION DE LAS SOCIEDADES QUE FORMAN EL GRUPO CONSOLIDADO (19)

Incorporaciones de sociedades al proceso de consolidacién de Amadeus Grupo durante e! afio

2000:
Red Universal de Marketing y Booking On Line, S.A. Adquisicion de un 50%.

Amadeus Global Travel Israel, Ltd. Adquisicion de un 60%.
ICSA-T L.L.C. Adquisicion de un 49%.

ill. BASES DE PRESENTACION Y NORMAS DE VALORACION

{En la elaboracién de los datos e informaciones de caricter financiero-contable incluidos en la presenta informacién piiblica periédica,
deberin aplicarse los principios, normas de valoraclén y criterios contables previstos on la normativa en vigor para la elaboracion de
informacién de caricter financierocontable a incorporar a las cuentas anuales y estados financleros intermedios correspondiantas al
sector al que pertenoce la entidad. Si excepcionalmente no se hubleran aplicade a los datos e informaciones que se adjuntan los principios
y critorios de contabilldad generalmente aceptados exigidos por la correspondiente normativa en vigor, aste hacho debers ser seffalado y
motivado suficientomente, debiendo explicarse la influencia que su no aplicacién pudiara tenor sobre el patrimonio, la situacién financlera
y los resultados de la empresa o su grupe consolidado. Adicionalmente, y con un alcance similar al anterior, deberin mencionarse y
comentarse las modificaciones qua, en su caso y an relaclén con las ultimas cuentas anuales auditadas, puedan haberse producido en los
criterios contables utilizados en la slaboraclén de las informaciones que se adjuntan. Si se han aplicado los mismos principlos, criterios y
politicas contables que on [as Gitimas cuentas anuales, y si aquellos responden a lo previsto en la normativa contable en vigor que le sea

de aplicaclon a la entidad, Indiquese asi sxpresamenta}.

Bases de presentacién y comparacion de la informacion

Para el periodo terminado el 30 de junio de 2000 se han utilizado los mismos principios, criterios y
politicas contables que para la elaboracion de las cuentas anuales a 31 de diciembre de 1999 las
cuales han sido preparadas de acuerdo con principlos y normas contables generalmente aceptados en

Espaiia (en adelante PCGA espafioles).

En diciembre de 1997, como parte de la reorganizacion del Grupo, Amadeus Data Processing GmbH
{filial del Grupo) adquiri® Amadeus Data Processing and Co. KG (“Amadeus Operations KGT),
anteriormente propiedad de los accionistas de la Sociedad. Simultaneamente, Amadeus Operations
KG fue disuelta con la consiguiente integracién de sus activos y pasivos en Amadeus Data Processing

GmbH.

Adicionalmente al balance de situacién y cuenta de pérdidas y ganacias consolidados intermedios
preparados de acuerdo con PCGA espafioles, el Grupo prepara estados financieros consolidados
intermedios aplicando Normas Internacionales de Comntabilidad (en adeiante, NIC). En este marco
normativo la Sociedad contabilizd la transaccidon mencionada en el parrafo anterior mediante la
aplicacion de un método similar al denominado “union de intereses”, el cual difiere significativamente
del tratamiento dado bajo PCGA espafioles. El pago a los accionistas por esta adquisicion se trato, a
efectos contables NIC, de manera andloga al page de un dividendo. Como consecuencia
principalmente de esta diferencia en principios contables, el patrimonio reflejado bajo PCGA esparioles
es superior en aproximadamente 218,4 millones de Euros {equivalentes a 36.339 millones de pesetas)
al reflejado bajo NIC a 30 de junio de 2000. Dicho importe resulta basicamente de la diferencia entre el
precio pagado por la entidad adquirida y el patrimonio contable de la misma, una vez descontado el
impacto neto de los créditos fiscales derivados de dicha adquisicion.

* . on caso de ser insuficiente ¢l espacio reservado en estos cuadros para las explicaciones solicitadas, la sociedad podrai
NOTA: »

aeljuntar cuantas hojas adicionales considere necesarias.
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Il. VARIACION DE LAS SOCIEDADES QUE FORMAN EL GRUPO CONSOLIDADO (19)

&

lll. BASES DE PRESENTACION Y NORMAS DE VALORACION

(En 1a elaboracién de los datos ¢ informaclones de cardcter financlaro-contable inciuidos en la presante informacién publica pariddica,
deberin aplicarse los principlos, normas de valoracién y criterios contables provistos en la normativa en vigor para la slaboracitn de
Informacion de cardcter financlero-contable a incorporar a las cuentas anuales y estados financisros intermedios cormespondiente ai
sactor al que portenece la entidad. Si excepcionalments no se hubleran aplicade a los datos & informaciones que se adjuntan los principios
y criterios de contabllidad generalmente aceptados exigidos por la correspondiente normativa en vigor, este hecho debard ser sefalado y
motivado suficientemente, deblendo explicarse la influencla qua su no aplicacién pudiera tener sobre el patrimonio, la sluaci6n financiera
¥ los resultados de la empresa o su grupo consolidado. Adiclonalments, y con un alcance simllar al anterior, deberin mencionarse y
comentarse las modificacionss que, en su caso y en relacién con las ditimas cuentas anuales auditadas, puedan haberse producido en los
critarfos contables utilizados en la elaboraclén de las informaclones qua se adjuntan. Si ss han aplicado los mismos principlos, criterios y
politicas contables gue en las Gitimas cuentas anuales, y sl aquellos responden a lo previsto en la nomativa contable en vigor que le sea

de aplicacién a la sntldad, Indiquess asi axpresamenta).

El resultado y patrimonio neto del Grupo preparado de acuerdo con PCGA espafioles se concilia con
los estados financieros preparados de acuerdo con normas NIC y presentados de acuerdo con la
norma 34 "Estados Financieros Interinos”. Dicha reconciliacion mas una copia de los estados
financieros preparados bajo NIC en inglés seran registrados en la Comisién Nacional del Mercado de

Valores (CNMV) como "hecho relevante".

Con fecha 24 de junio de 1999 el Consejo de Administracién de Amadeus Global Travel Distribution,
S.A. aprobb el proyecto de fusion con Amadeus Marketing S.A., Sociedad Unipersonal y Amadeus
Shares, S.L., Sociedad Unipersonal. Los efectos contables de dicha fusién se registraron en el Gitimo
trimestre de 1999. Debido a la mencionada fusion, las partidas del balance de situacién y de la cuenta
de resultados de la sociedad individual han sufrido variaciones significativas al 30 de junio de 2000 con

respecto al 30 de junio de 1999,

NOTA: ¢n caso de ser insuficlente el espacio reservade en estos cuadros para [y explicaciones solicitadas, ln sociedad podri

adjuntar countas hojas adicionales comsidere necesarias,

G-2(2)
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Uds.: Millones de Pesetas
ACTIVO

GID S.A.

1. Gastos de Establecimiento

Il. Inmovilizaciones Inmateriales

H.1. Derechos s/blenas en régimen de arrendamiento financlere

I1.2. Otro Inmovilizado Inmaterial

lil. Inmovilizaciones Materiales

IV. Inmovilizaciones Financieras

V. Acciones Propias a Largo Plazo

Deudores por Operaciones Trifico a Largo Plazo

k. Accionistas por Desembolsos Exigidos

Il. Existencias

. Deudores

IV. Inversiones Financieras Temporales

V. Acciones Propias a Corto Plazo

Vi. Tesoreria

Vil. Ajustes por Periodlﬂcaclén

PASIVQ

3,507 0
6,241 80

Y 0

6,241 80
1,213 237
160,503 94,448
6,347 0

0 0
117,811 94,765
15 70

0 0

0 0
47,441 3,286
9,695 3,410

0 0

302 45

200 33
57,638 6,774
175,464 101,609

1. Capital Suscrito 6,212 6,071
fl. Reservas 103,164 8,120
ll. Resultados de Ejercicios Anteriores -5,811 -6,451
IV. Resultado del Periodo 16,186 4,487
V. Dlvldandos a Cuenta En(regados en el E]arclclo 0 0
119,751 12,227
3,563} 387|
931 895|
I, Emisién de Obligaciones y Otros Valores Negociables 0 0
I. Deudas con Entidades de Crédito 13,311 74,874
lit. Deudas con Empresas del Grupo y Asociadas 0 0
IV. Acreedores por Operaciones de Trifico a Largoe Plazo 0 0
28 28
13,329 74,902
1. Emisién de Obligaciones y Otros Valores Negociables 0 0
Il. Deudas con Entidades de Crédito 104 149
Itl. Deudas con Empresas del Grupo y Asociadas 27,926 10,684
V. Acreedores Comerciales 3,682 757
V. Otras Deudas a Corto 6,146 1,583
R Ajustes por Periodlflcacién 22 25
' AZO() ; 37,880 13,198
] |0695I 0] 0}
[ TOTAL PASIVO {A+B +C +D +E +F) | {0700} 175,464 101,609]

(-3
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Uds.: Millones de Pesetas Importe %

+ Importe Neto de la Cifra de Negocio {5) 126,279 100.00% 855 100.00%
+ Otros Ingresos (6) 151 0.01% OI 0.00%
+- Z:lla::: Existencias Productos Terminados y 0 0.00% Ol 0.00%
126,294 100.01% 855| 100.00%
- Compras Netas 01 0.00% 0 0.00%
e o ooon o] v
- Gastos Externos y de Explotacién (7) -108,997 -86.31% -1,144] -133.80%
17,297 13.70% -289| -33.80%
+/- Otros Gastos e Ingresos (8) 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
- Gastos de Personal -1,575 -1.25% -624] -72.98%
15,722 12.45% -013| -106.78%
- Dotacién Amortizaciones Inmovilizado -1,672 -1.32% -118] -13.80%
- Dotaciones al Fondo de Reversi6n 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
- Variacion Provisiones de Circulante (9) -397 -0.31% 0 0.00%
' 13,653  10.81% 1,031 -120.58%
+ [ngresos Financieros 8,998 7.13% 1,231 143.98%
- Gastos Financieros -1,257 -1.00% -1,928| -225.50%
+ Intereses y Diferencias Cambio Capitalizados 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
. ?lzt)acién Amortizacion y Provisiones Financieras 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
*Inmatonan Wateraly Cartora da Gonfrol (1) 8] 00i% 1| o.u2%
e e oot R
- Resulidos po Oparalones co Acclon o oon =
+/- Resultados da Ejarcicios Anteriores (14) 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
+/- Otros Resultados Extraordinarios (15) 120 0.10% 761 89.01%
: | 22,648 17.93% 2,824 330.29%
+/- Impuestos sobre Sociedades y Otros -6,462 5.12% 1,663 194.50%
= RESULTADO DEL EJERCICIO 16, 186G 12,8279 4.487 SXL80

G-4
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Uds.: Millones de Pesetas
ACTIVO

GID S.A.

o]

I. Gastos de Establecimiento 3,507 0
Il. Inmovilizaciones Inmateriales 52226 51,534
IL1. Derechos s/blenes an régimen de ammendamiento financlero 23,191 23,763
I1.2. Otro Inmovilizado Inmaterial 29,035 27,771
. Inmovilizaciones Materiales 18,178 15,743
V. Inmovllizaciones Financieras 21,214 13,681
V. Acciones de la Sociedad Dominante a Largo Plazo 6,347 0
Deudores por Operacionas Trafico a Largo Plazo 0 0
101,472 80,958

64,557 68,287|

13,407} 13,790|

Accionistas por Desembolsos Exigidos 0 0

Il. Existencias 0 0
. Deudores 43,583 40,732
IV. Inversiones Financieras Temporales 2,076 1,197
V. Acciones de la Sociedad Dominante a Corto Plazo 0 0
Vl. Tesoreria 1,492 1,529
Ajustes por Periodificacién 1,547 1,511
48,698 44,969

228,134/ 208,004

PASIVO | EJERCICIO ACTUAL | EJERCICIO ANTERIOR |
. Capital Suscrito 6,212 6,071
Il. Reservas Sociedad Dominante 97,366 1,669
illl. Reservas Sociedades Consotidadas (16) 4,537 20,613
IV. Diferencias de Conversién (17) 48 310
V. Resultados Atribuibles a la Sociedad Dominante 14,970 13,965
VL. Dlvidondos a (:uenta Entregados an ol Ejarcicio 0 0
A).F R Gl | 123,133 42,628
I"i'd S&CIOS‘EXTERNOS‘@ E 0] 0]
[c)  DIFERENGIA'NEGATIVA DE.CONSOLIDACION, 406] 394
[0} INGRESOS A DISTRIBUIR EN VARIOS EJERCICIOS (3) | [1590| 3.211] 1,160
[Ey .- PROVISIONES PARA RIESGOS Y. GASTOS - 1,201} 1,125]
. Emisién de Obligaciones y Otros Valores Negociables 0 0
Il. Deudas con Entidades de Crédito 47,302 109,453
Iil. Acreedores por Operaciones de Trafico a Largo Plazo 0 0
V. Otras Deudas a Largo 3,383 4,369
F}- ACREEDORES A LARGO PLAZO 50,685 113,822
f. Emisi6n de Obligacionas y Otros Valores Negociables 1] 0
Il. Deudas con Entidades da Crédito 5,747 6,844
1. Acreedores Comarciales 21,790 19.757
V. Otras Deudas a Corto 21,838 22,116
V. Ajustes por Periodificacion 123 158
G) ACREEDORES A'CORTOPLAZO (4} 49,498 48,875
[H} PROVISIONES PARA RIESGOS Y GASTOS A CORTO PLAZO e ay - 9]
3 228,134 208,004

| TOTAL PASIVO (A+B+C+D+E+F +G +H)

(-5
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Uds.: Millones de Pesetas Importe Importe
+ Importe Neto de la Gifra de Negocio (5) 129.6271 100.00% 112,000( 100.00%
+ Otros Ingresos (6) 2,097 1.62% 1,666 1.4949
+/- Variacién Existencias Productos Tarminados y én Cursa 0] 0.00% 0 0.00%
131,724| 101.62% 113,666] 101.49%
- Compras Natas : o 0.00% 0 0.00%
+- ;aa:i:g;ﬂsnc?:::umn::?:s Mercaderias, Materias Primas y Otras ol o.00% ol o.00%
» Gastos Externos y de Explotacion (7) =79,360] -61.22% 69,028 61.63%
; 52,364] 40.40% 44,638 39.86%
+- Otr Gagtoz @ Ingos {8) 0] 0.00% 0 0.00%
- Gastos de Parsonal -17,254| -13.31% «14,619] -13.05%
3 35,110] 27.09% 30,019 26.80%
- Dotacién Amortizacionas Inmovilizado -9,655] -T.45% <1372 -6.58%
- Dotaciones al Fondo de Revarsion 0| 0.00%[ o] 0.00%
] -5i5( -0.40% 204 026%
. 90 24,940 19.24% 22,353| 19.96%
+ Ingresos Financleros :}J a178| 3m% 205| 0.18%
- astos Financiaros H -2,1671 -1.67% 2,740 -2.45%
+ intereses y Diferenclas Camble Capitalizados 1964 0| 0.00% o] 0.00%
- Dotacién Amortizacién y Provisiones Financieras (10) {030 o| 0.00% o 0.00%
+/- Restiltados de Convarsién (18) A9 o| 0.00% ol 0.00%
. E:ﬁ::;?::::?: Rasuitados Sociedades Puastas an 589 0.69% P
- Amonrtizacién Fondo Cemercio Consalidacion -4 810 -3.71% -4.628] 4.13%
+ Ravarsion Diferencias Negativas de Conzolidacidn of 0.00% 0] 0.00%
= RESULTADD AGTVIDADES ORWARIAS | ) o] 20| vow] va] s e
“Mintrialy Cariors de Gantrol (1) o o o0.00% o o007
\é::z;.:;ﬁ:ﬂpézz|;z|}?:)lnmowl|zan:lo Inmaterial, Material y ol o.00% ol o0.00%
. E::;g:c::;)por Cperaciones con Acclones y Obligacionas 2 9 : ol o0.o00% ol ooox
+/- Resultados de Ejercicios Anteriores (14) 2021 ol 0.00% of 0.00%
+/- Otros Resultados Extraordinarios (15) 1.203\9 203 0.l6% 2,638 236%
: 23.233| 17.92% 17,875 15.96%
-8.263| -6.37% -3.6401 -3.25%
RESULTADO GoNSOHIDADG DE 14,970) 11.55% 14,235] 1271%
+/- Rasultado Atribuido a Socios Externos 0] 0.00% -270| -0.24%
_ RESULTADO DEL EJERCICIO ATRIBUIDO A LA SOCIEDAD | |, 'y aser P -

T DOMINANTE

14,970
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VI. DISTRIBUCION POR ACTIVIDAD DEL IMPORTE NETO DE LA CIFRA DE NEGOCIO

Prestacion de servicios de sistema

de reservas informdticos 126,279 855 129,627 112,000

Obra Ejecutada Pendiente de certificar (*)

126,279 855 129,627 112,000
Mercado Interior 12,656 9,911
Exportacién: Unién Europea 64,854 56,291
Paises O.C.D.E. 23,944 22,917
Reasto Paises 28,173 22,881

(*) A completar unicamente por Empresas Constructoras

VIi. NUMERO MEDIO DE PERSONAS EMPLEADAS EN EL CURSO DEL PERIODO

Vii. EVOLUCION DE LOS NEGOCIOS

{La informacién a Incluir dentro de este apartado, ademas de cumplir con lo dispuesto en las Instrucciones para Ia cumplimentacién de
asta informacién semestral, deberd hacer manclén axpresa sobre los sigulentes aspectos: evolucién de la cifra de ingresos y de los
costes anejos a dichos ingresos; composicién y anélisis de las principales oparaciones que han dado lugar a la obtencién de resultados
extraordinarios; comentario de las operaciones de Inversién y desinversién mas relevantes, explicande su efacto sobre el fondo de
maniobra de la compadia y en especial sobre Ja tesoreria de la misma; explicacién suficlente sobre fa naturaleza y efectos de las partidas
que hayan podida causar una varlacion significativa sabre la cifra da ingresos o sobre los resultados de la compaila en el semestre

actual respecte a los comunicados an el trimestre anterior).

La evolucion de los negocios descrita a continuacion se refiere Gnicamente a los estados financieros consolidados del
Grupo Amadeus dado que la gerencia entiende que los estados financieros individuales no reflejan la evolucién de los
negocios del Grupo. Algunos ejemplos de componentes de los estados financieros individuales que no afectan al
consolidado son las provisiones de cartera por depreciacién en inversiones sobre empresas del Grupo, transacciones
entre compafiias del Grupo y el devengo de dividendos de empresas del Grupe.
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Viil. EVOLUCION DE LOS NEGOCIOS

{La informacién a incluir doentro de este apartado, ademas de cumplir con lo dispuesto en las Instrucciones para la
cumpiimentacién de esta informacién semestral, deberd hacer mencién expresa sobre los siguientas aspectos:
evolucién de la cifra de ingresos y de los costes anejos a dichos Ingresos; composiclon y andlisis de tas principales
operaciones que han dado lugar a la obtencién de resultados extracrdinarios; comentario de las operacionss de
Inversién y desinversién més ralevantes, explicando su efecto sobre el fondo de maniobra de la compafila ¥ on especial
sobre la tesoreria de la misma; explicacién suficiente sobre la naturaleza y efectos de las partidas que hayan podida
causar una variacién significativa sobre la cifra de ingresos o sobre los resultados de la compaiifa en el semestre actual
respacto a los comunicados en el trimestre anterior).

Durante el periodo de seis meses terminado ef 30 de junio de 2000, el importe neto de ia cifra de
negocio fue de 129.627 millones de pesetas, incrementandose en un 15,7% con respecto al mismo

periodo del ejercicio anterior,

La cifra de ingresos por reservas se increment6é aproximadamente en un 11%, debido a un mayor
volumen de reservas realizadas durante el periodo y a aumentos, registrados a partir del 1 de enero de
2000, en los precios de las mismas. El incremento, de un 36,2%, en ingresos varios no procedentes de
reservas se debe a i) al buen rendimiento de la cartera de productos, tales como emisién de billetes,
disponibilidad dinamica de vuelos, cargos para inter-conexidon con otras CRSs y productos informativos
de marketing ii) el contrato de outsourcing para el procesamiento de datos de Start Amadeus (NMC
alemana de Amadeus) que empezd en la segunda mitad de 1999.

El namero de reservas totales durante el primer semestre del afio 2000 fue de 207,3 millones, lo que
representa un incremento de un 5,1% con respecto a los 197,3 millones registrados durante el primer
samestre de 1999. El crecimiento en el ndmero de reservas aéreas efectuadas fue de un 4,7%,
mientras que las reservas no aéreas crecieron un 10,0%.

E! incremento del niimero de reservas aéreas, excluyendo el mercado norteamericano, fue del 8,1%.
Sin embargo el débil rendimiento en dicho mercado redujo el crecimiento conjunto del periodo. Los
datos actuales seiialan algo de recuperacion en el mercado norteamericano debida a mejoras en los
canales de distribucién tradicionales y al mayor nimero de reservas originadas por nuestras iniciativas
en la distribucion "on-line". La baja de Aerolineas Argentinas como Usuario del Sistema, producida en el
cuarto trimestre de 1999, esta afectando el crecimiento del nimero de reservas aéreas en un 0,8%. El
impacto de este hecho se vera compensado en el cuarto trimestre de 2000.

La gerencia espera un mayor crecimiento en el numero de reservas durante el segundo semestre del
ano, especialmente en ei cuarto trimestre. Este crecimiento vendré producido por la recuperacion del
mercado estadounidense, por el fuerte desarrollo esperado para los mercados europeo, sudamericano,
incluyendo aquellos derivados de las nuevas aerolineas usuarias del sistema, y por la ausencia del
impacto negativo, experimentado en el cuarto trimestre de 1999, como consecuencia del "efecto 2000".

Los gastos de explotacion durante 10s seis primeros meses de 2000 fueron 106.784 millones de pesetas
comparados con los 91.313 millones de pesetas del mismo periodo de 1999, o que representa un
incremento de un 16,9%. Esta subida es principalmente debida a los siguientes factores:

- La fortaleza del USD frente al Euro

- Incremento de los costes de distribucion e incentivos como consecuencia del incremento del nimero
de reservas.

NOTA: en caso de ser Insuficlente el espaclo resarvado en estos cuadros para las explicaciones solicitadas, la sociedad podrd adjuntar

cusntas hopas cheaanales congiders necasarias

G-7b
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ViI. EVOLUCION DE LOS NEGOCIOS

{La informacién a incluir dentro de este apartado, ademds de cumplir con lo dispuesto en las Instrucciones para la
cumplimentacién de esta informacién semestral, deberd hacer mencién expresa sobre los siguientes aspectos:
evolucion de la cifra de ingresos y de los costes anejos a dichos ingresos; composicién y andlisis de las principales
operacionss que han dado lugar a la obtencién de resultados extraordinarios; comentario de las operaciones de
invarsién y desinversién mas relevantes, explicando su efecto sobre el fondo de manicbra de la compaiiia y en especial
sobre la tesorerfa de la misma; explicacién suficiente sobre la naturaleza y efectos de las partidas que hayan podida
causar una variacién significativa sobre la cifra de ingresos o sobre los resuitados de la compaiiia en el semestre actual

respecto a los comunicados en el trimestre anterior).

- Incremento en los costes de nuestro ceniro de proceso de datos, debido parcialmente a la
externalizacion (servicio ahora prestado por Amadeus) de las instalaciones de proceso de datos de
Start Amadeus (NMC alemana de Amadeus); este contrato de externalizacion comenzé durante ei

segundo semestre de 1999.
- incrementos y mejoras en la cartera de productos y sistemas.

Los beneficios de explotacion durante los seis primeros meses de 2000 fueron 24.940 millones de
pesetas comparados con los 22.353 millones de pesetas del mismo periodo de 1999 lo que representa

un incremento de un 11,6%.

El riesgo de tipo de cambio frente al USD ha sido mas alto de lo esperado durante este pericdo. Esta
situacion se debe principalmente a:

- Cambios adoptados para el afio 2000 por algunas aerolineas nortearnericas pasando de un sistema
de facturacion en USD a Euros.

- Decremento del nimero de reservas facturables en USD debido a un ndmero de reservas menor que
el esperado en el mercado norteamericano.

- Incremento de los costes denominados en USD.

Estos factores han producido un resultado negativo en el beneficio esperado de explotacion de
aproximadamente 1.664 millones de pesetas, fo que representa una disminucién del 7,4% en el
crecimiento de los beneficios de expiotacion y una disminucion del margen de explotacion del 1.2%. La
gerencia considera que el impacto en los resultados de este riesgo de tipo de cambio se reducira a

partir del 2001.

La gerencia espera crecimientos significativos en la evolucion del margen operativo durante el segundo
semestre, especialmente en el cuarto trimestre. Este crecimiento vendrd producido por un mayor
crecimiento del numero de reservas en todo el mundo y a la compensaciéh del impacto de ciertos
costes relativas a actividades iniciadas en el segundo semestre de 1999.

El resultado neto del periodo, incluyendo partidas excepcionales, fue de 14.970 millones de pesetas
durante el primer semestre de 2000 comparado con los 13.965 millones de pesetas del primer semestre
de 1999, lo que representa un aumento de un 7,2%. Eil resultado neto del periodo, excluyendo estas
partidas excepcionales, fue de 12,560 millones de pesetas comparade con los 8,474 millones de

pesetas del primer semestre de 1999,

El resultado neto a 30 de junio de 1999 incluia un ingreso excepcional antes de impuestos de 2.729
millones de pesetas relativo a la venta de Cerlificados de Depésito de Equant N.V. en febrero de 1999,
asl como un ingreso de 2.762 millones de pesetas debido al reconocimiento contable de créditos

fiscales.

N \: - . . N N .
NOTA: an caso de ser insuficiente el adpacio reservado an estos cuadros para las axplicaciones solicitadaq, 1a sociedad podrd adjuntar

Tuart vy bepagy g Beomen ey s a i fieennarag
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Vliil. EVOLUCION DE LOS NEGOCIOS

{La informacién a incluir dentro de este apartado, ademas de cumplir con lo dispuesto en las instrucciones para la
cumplimentacién de esta informacién semestral, deberd hacer mencién expresa sobre los siguientes aspectos:
evolucién de la cifra de ingresos y de los costes anejos a dichos ingresos; composicion y andlisis de las principales
operaciones que han dado lugar a la obtencién de resultados extracrdinarios; comentario de las operaciones de
inversion y desinversion més relevantes, axplicando su efecto sobre ef fondo de manicbra de Ia compaidiia y en aspecial
sobre la tesorerfa de la misma; explicacién suficiente sobre la naturaleza y efectos de las partidas que hayan podida
causar una vartacion significativa sobre la cifra de ingresos o sobre los resultados de la compaitia en el semestre actual
respecto a los comunicados en el trimestre anterior).

El resultado neto a 30 de junio de 2000, incluye un ingreso excepcional después de impuestos de 2.410
millones de pesetas debidos a una operacién de derivados contratada para gestionar el resultado que
podria derivarse de potenciales acuerdos comerciales.

NOTA: en caso de ser insuficiente el nspacio reservado an estes cuadros para fas axplicacionns aolicitadas, 12 saniedad podrd adjuntar

Catits b e L R T Y N LR U TSR TN
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IX. DIVIDENDOS DISTRIBUIDOS DURANTE EL PERIODO :
(Se haré mencién de los dividendos distribuidos desde el inicio del ejercicio econémico).

Informacién adicional sobre el reparto de dividendos (a cuenta, complementario, etc)
Durante el periodo de seis meses terminado el 30 de junio de 2000 el Grupo no ha repartido dividendos.

X. HECHOS SIGNIFICATIVOS {*)

. Adquisiciones o transmisiones de participaciones en el capital de
sociedades cotizadas en holsa detarminantes de la obligacién de
comunicar complementada en el art. 53 de la LMV (5 por 100 ¥

miltiplos)

2. Adquisiciones de autocartera determinantes de la obligacién de
comunicar segin la disposicion adicional 1* de la LSA (1 por 100)

3. Otros aumentos Yy disminuciones significativos del inmovilizado
{participaciones superiores al 10% en sociedades no cotizadas,

Inversiones o desinversiones materiales relevantes, etc.)

4. Aumentos y reducciones del capital social o del valor de los titulos

5. Emisiones, reemboisos o cancelaciones de empréstitos

6. Camblos de los Administradores o del Conssjo de Administracion

7. Modificaciones de los Estatutos Soclales

8. Transformaciones, fusiones o escisiones I 3270 |

= »
SN 1 S O N |y

9. Cambios en la regularizacién institucional del sector con incidencia I 3280 |
significativa en la situacion econdémica o financiera de la sociedad o del

Grupo

10. Pleitos, litigios © contenciosos que puedan afectar de forma | 3290"!' I X
significativa a la situacion patrimonial de la Sociedad o del Grupo

-

11. Situaciones concursales, suspansiones de pagos, etc.

12. Acuerdos especiales de limitacion, cesién o renuncia total o parcial, de
los derechos politicos y econémicos de las acciones de la Sociedad.

=
I

43. Acuerdos estratégicos con grupas nacionales o internacionales
(intercambio de paquetes accionarlales, etc.)

14. Otros hechaos significativos

Marcar con una "X" la casilla correspondienta, adjuntando en caso

{*) afirmativo anexo explicativo en el que se detalle la fecha de
comuninasinn ala CHRY y a1 SRYS

|

G-8
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(14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV y a las Sociedades Rectoras de la Bolsa de Madrid
y Barcelona el 15/2/00

Informacion periddica semestral
(14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV el 15/2/00

Version inglesa y traduccion al espariol del Balance consolidado, Cuenta de Pérdidas y Ganancias
consolidada y Estado de Flujos de Caja consolidado a 31 de diciembre de 1999 bajo Normas

Internacionales de Contabilidad.

Reconciliacion de los estados financieros bajo Normas Internacionales de Contabilidad con los
preparados bajo Principios Contables Esparioles a 31 de diciembre de 1999.

Evolucién de los negocios y andlisis de las condiciones financieras y resultado de operaciones
correspondiente al cuarto trimesfre de 1999 y ejercicio social cerrado a 31 de diciembre 1999 versus
ejercicio cerrado a 31 de diciembre de 1998.

(14) Hechao relevante comunicado a la CNMV el 21/2/00

Comunicacion de los objetivos financieros para el afio 2000 bajo Normas Intermnacionales de
Contabilidad, excluyendo iniciativas en “E-Commerce” o “Information Technology”.

(14) Comunicacién a la CNMV y a las Sociedades Rectoras de la Bolsa de Madrid y Barcelona de
fecha 29/3/00

Comunicacion de discrepancia en la informacién periédica semestral referida a 31 de diciembre de
1999 respecto de las cuentas anuales formuladas por el Consejo de Administracién.

(14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV el 19/4/00

Alianza tecnolégica de Amadeus con British Airways

(14} Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV el 26/4/00

BTopenworld y Amadeus crearan un joint venture para ofrecer servicios de viaje a través de Internet
(14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV el 3/5/00

Amadeus seleccionado por Quantas como proveedor tecnologico

(14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV el 8/5/00

Estados financieros consolidados auditados correspondientes al ejercicio cerrado a 31 de diciembre de
1999 de la Sociedad, preparados bajo Normas Internacionales de Contabilidad.

NOTA: en caso de ser insuficiente ¢l espacio reservado en estos cuadros para bas explicaciones solicitidas, la sociedict

prstek selfuntar crantas Bojas adiciomales considere mece i s,
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{14) Hecho relevante comunicado a.la CNMV y a las Sociedad Rectoras de la Bolsa de Madrid y
Barcelona el 10/5/00. :

Informacion periddica trimestral (1° trinjesfre 00):

Revisiéon limitada y estados ﬁnanciérb‘s consolidados a 31 de marzo de 2000 bajo Normas
Internacionales de Contabilidad.

Traduccion al espariol del Balance coﬁsblidado, Cuenta de Pérdidas y Ganancias consolidad y Estado
de Flujos de Caja consolidado a 31 de marzo de 2000 bajo Normas Internacionales de Contabilidad.

Reconciliacién de los estados financieros bajo Normas Internacionales de Contabilidad con los
preparados bajo Principios Contables Espaiioles a 31 de marzo de 2000.

Evolucidn de los negocios y andlisis de las condiciones financieras y resultado de operaciones
correspondiente al primer trimestre de 2000 y primer trimestre de 1899.

(14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la ZCNMV el 10/5/00

Exploracién de Oferta Publica de venta
(14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV el 26/5/00

Convocatoria de Junta General Ordinaria de Accionistas a celebrar el 15 de junio de 2000 en primera
convocatoria o dia 16 en segunda.

{14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV el 7/6/00

Alianza entre Amadeus y Broadvision para el desarrollc de una nueva generacion de aplicaciones de
comercio electronico para el sector de vigjes.

(14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV por Warburg Dillon Read Espaiia, S.A.
el 13/6/00 :

Operacion de transmisién en bloque de 14.000.000 de acciones de la Clase A de Amadeus por parte
de Lufthansa, Air France e Iberia a un nimero reducido de inversores institucionales a 10,80 Euros.

(14) Hecho relevante comunicado a la CNMV el 16/6/00

Celebracion de la Junta General ordinaria de Accionistas y acuerdos tomados.

NOYT A en easo de ser insuficiente ¢f espacior réservade en estos coadros para Fas evplicaciones solicitactas, Ia sociedad

prondd addpiatar caanlas b achiciomale s conndde oo noen e,

G-9(2)
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RELACION DE DOCUMENTOS FIRMADOS COMO CONSECUENCIA DE LA OFERTA PUBLICA
DE VENTA DE ACCIONES DE AMADEUS DE FECHA 24 DE MAYO DE 2000.

Comunicacion previa de Folleto Informativo Continuado, de fecha 27 de abril de 2000.
Verificacion y Registro del Folleto Informativo Continuado de fecha 18 de mayo de 2000.
Firma del protocolo de aseguramiento y co:mpromiso de colocacion de fecha 18 de mayo de 2000.

Verificacion y Registrd del Folleto Infomiativo Reducido de fecha 19 de mayo de 2000, relativo a una
Oferta Publica de Venta de 135.700.000 Acciones de la Clase A de Amadeus.

Firma del contrato de aseguramiento y colocacion de fecha 24 de mayo de 2000.

Firma del “International Underwriting Agreement” de fecha 24 de mayo de 2000

Suplemento al Folleto Informativo Reducido de Oferta Ptblica de Venta de Acciones de la Clase A de

Amadeus, de fecha 24 de mayo de 2000. .

Verificacion y Registro del Suplementd al Folleto Informativo Reducido con motivo de la modificacion
en el importe ofertado y en la fecha de operacion de la entidad Amadeus, de fecha 24 de mayo de

2000.

Cuadro de difusién.

NOTA: en caso de ser insuficiente of espacio redervado en ectos crsrdros paert las explicaciones solicitadas, by sociedad

, : =
gk bt cianbae B adhicictiatc oo oo
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XI. INFORME ESPECIAL DE LOS AUDITORES

(Este apartado sélo deberd ser completado en la informacién correspondiente al | Semestre del ejercicio siguiente al
altimo cerrado auditado, y sera de aplicacién para aquellas sociledades emisoras que, de conformidad con lo previsto en
el apartado decimotercero de la Orden Ministerial de 18 de Enero de 1991, resulten obligadas a la presentacion de un
informe especial de sus autidtores de cuentas, cuando el informe de audotoria de las cuentas anuales del ejercicio
inmediato anterior hubiera denegado [a opinién o contuviere una opinién adversa o con salvedades. En el mismo, se
Incluird la mencién de que se adjunta como anexo de la informacién semestral el referido informe especlal de los
auditores de cuentas, asi como la reproduccién de la informacién o manifestaciones aportadas o efectuadas por los
Administradores de la Sociedad sobre la situacién actualizada de las salvedades incluidas por el auditor en su informe de
auditoria de las cuentas anuales del ejercicio anterior y que, de conformidad con las Normas Técnicas de Auditoria
aplicables, hubiara servido de base para la elaboracidn del mencionado informe especial).

No aplica en el caso de Amadeus Grupo, ya que obtuvimos un informe de auditoria de las cuentas
anuales del ejercicio inmediato anterior sin opinién adversa o salvedades.

NOTA: En casn de seransuficiants af espacin rranesacd en agte cuaden apara s ephicacinnes gealietadas Iy

R A N TR T I P T I AT C R S

G-10
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AMaDEUS

A LA COMISION NAC‘ONAL DEL MERCADO DE VALORES

D. Jacinto Esclapés Diaz, representante autorizado de Amadeus Global Travet Distribution, S.A.,

con domicilio social en Madrid, calle Salvador de Madariaga, n® 1, en virtud de lo establecido en
el articulo 82 de la Ley 24/1988, de 28 de julio, del Mercado de Valores, ante esa Comision

Nacional del Mercado de Valores comparece y por el presente escrito comunica el siguiente

HECHO RELEVANTE

1. Revisién limitada y estadés financieros consolidados a 30 de junio de 2000 bajo
Normas Internacionales de Contabilidad.
En cumplimiento de ia nommativa vigente aplicable a los emisores de valores admitidos a

negociacion, Amadeus Global Travel Distribution, S.A. ha remitido a la Comisién Nacional del
Mercado de Valores la informacién trimestral comprensiva del avance de sus resuitados y otras

informaciones relevantes a 30 de junio de 2000.

Adicionalmente, Amadeus Global Travel Distribution, S.A. ha preparado en version inglesa los
estados financieros a 30 de junio de 2000 bajo Normas Intemacionales de Contabilidad (NIC
34), que junto con el informe de Revision Limitada se adjuntan a esta comunicacion.

2.  Traduccién al espaiiol del Balance consolidado, Cuenta de Pérdidas y Ganancias
consolidada y Estado de Flujos de Caja consolidado a 30 de junio de 2000 bajo

Normas Internacionales de Contabilidad.
Amadeus Global Travel Distribution, S.A. ha preparado una traduccion al espaiicl del Balance

consolidado, Cuenta de Pérdidas y Ganancias consolidada y Estado de Flujos de Caja
consolidado a 30 de junio de 2000 y a 30 de junio de 1999 bajo Normas Internacionales de

Contabilidad, que se adjuntan a esta comunicacion.

3. Raconclliacién de los astados financieros bajo Normas Internacionales de
Contabilidad con los preparados bajo Principios Contables Espafioles a 30 de junio

de 2000.

Para una mejor comprensién del inversor,
espafiola la reconciliacion de los estados financieros a 30 de
internacionales de Contabilidad con Principios Generalmente Aceptados en Esp

se refiere al patrimonio neto y al resultado neto.

se adjunta a esta comunicacion en versién inglesa y
junio de 2000 bajo Normas
afa en [0 que

ones financieras y resultado de
semostre de

MSCRIT.
[ ITA EN EL REGISTRQ MERCANTIL DE MADRID, TOMO B906. GENERAL 7760 DE LA SECCION 3 DEL LIBRO DE SOCIEDWDES. FOLIC 15, HOUA 34.913-1 - CIF / VAT: ESA-7887691%

4.  Evolucién de los negocios y andlisis de las condici
operaciones correspondiente al primer semestre de 2000 y primer

1999. .
Se adjunta igualmente a esta comunicacion, de forma resumida y en version inglesa, un analisis

de la evolucién de los negocios y resultados obtenidos bajo W de
Contabitidad tanto por el primer semestre de 2000 como por el prim esife de 1999.
3 " Madrid.4 3 de agosto de 2000 |

AMADEUS GEOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S A.
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%Amadeus Global Travel
Distribution, S.A.

- Limited Review Report and Consolidated Interim
' Financial Statements as of June 30, 2000

' Prepared in accordance with

- International Accounting Standard 34
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Torre Picasso, plta. 38

Plaza Pablo Ruiz Picasso, s/n
28020 Madrid

Espafia

Tel.: +(34) 915 82 09 oo
Fax: +(34) 915 56 74 30 : [ ]
www.deloitte.es : Delo‘tte

' & Touche

REVIEW REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Amadeus Global Travel Distribution, S.A.

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Amadeus Global Travel
Distribution, S.A. and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as of June 30, 2000 and the related
consolidated statements of income for the six and three month periods then ended and of cash
flows and of changes in shareholders’ equity for the six-month period ended on the same date.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Group’s management. Our responsibility
is to issue a report on these financial statements based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standards on Auditing applicable to
review engagements. This standard requires that we plan and perform the review to obtain
moderate assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. A
review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Group’s personnel and analytical procedures
applied to financial data and thus provides less assurance than an audit. We have not performed
an audit and accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

do19

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the
accompanying consolidated financial statements are not presented fairly, in all material respects,
in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34.

DELO@ TOUCHE

Gabriel Lopez |
Partner

July 25, 2000

Deloitte ibare s'lon.a,éu-lm:n, L4y Batmas de Gean Canara, Logrona, Madnd, Malaga. Lavilla, Valnnoa, Yaltadaud. Vigo, Jaragora
Touche
Tohmatsu
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS - KEURs)

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net :
Accounts receivable - affiliates (Note 5)
Loans receivable and advances — affiliates (Note 5)
Taxes receivable :
Prepayments and other current assets
Total current assets :

Tangible assets
Land and buildings :
Data processing hardware and software
Other :

Less accumulated depreciation
Net tangible assets

Intangible assets
Patents, trademarks and licenses
Software development projects
Purchased contracts
Gaodwill
Other

Less accumulated amortization
Net intangible assets

Deferred income taxes
Loans receivable - affiliates (Nate 5)

Long-term investments

Total assets

June 30, December 31,
2000 1999
{Unaudited)
12,663 15,726
150,948 116,198
60,756 41,415
1,252 1,195
22,840 57,945
21,105 17,283
269,564 249,762
128,542 117,669
288,344 275,911
88,935 85,143
505,821 478,723
247,628 221,080
258,193 257,643
44,521 44,485
107,665 97,998
143,697 131,302
46,958 45,264
11,846 12,323
364,687 331,372
187,902 162,443
166,785 168,929
175,021 170,806
6,201 5,601
168,535 164,860
1,044,299 1,017,601

Sae the acompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS - KEURs)
: June 30, December 31,
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ~ EQUITY 2000 1999
: {Unaudited)
Current liabRities
Accounts payable : 114,683 118,943
Accounts payable - affiliates {Note 5). 53,057 45,885
Debt payabte within one year 12,542 58,5635
Current obligations under finance leases 15,123 18,252
Income taxes payable : 35,104 6,406
Other current liabilities 48,608 48,168
Total current liabilities 279,117 296,189
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt 81,437 150,371
Obligations under finance leases 131,375 126,027
Other long-term liabilities 30,700 27,3056
Tota! long-term liabilities 243,512 303,703
Shareholdars’ equity
Share capital 37,338 37,338
Treasury stock (38,148} {38,162)
Additional paid-in capitat : 424,071 424,067
Retained earnings {accumulated deficit) 90,383 {14,770)
Cumulative transtation adjustments | 8,026 9,226
Total shareholders’ equity : 521,670 417,709
1,044,299 1,017,601

See the acompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF E

UROs - KEURs}

Revenue {Note 3}
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Operating income
Other income {expense)

Interest expense, net (Note 6)

Exchange gains (losses)
Qther

income before income taxes
Income taxes (Note 4}

Income after taxes

Equity in income {losses) from associates
Minority interests

Net income

Net income per class “A” shares in EURs
{Note 7)

Net income per class “B” shares in EURs
{Note 7)

Diluted earnings per class "A” share in EURs
{Note 7}

Diluted earnings per class "B” share in EURs
{Note 7}

Far the three month period ended

For the six month period ended

June 30, June 30,
2000 1999 2000 1999
{Unaudited) {Unaudited)

389,926 340,820 783,325 677,106
303,167 262,310 603,531 519,742
86,759 78,510 179,794 157,363
16,382 13,807 30,413 27,518
70,377 64,703 149,381 129,845
(3,013} {6,004} {6,749) (13,305)
{1,652} {1,203) {2,5665) (121
22,418 {9486) 23,500 18,841
88,130 56,5650 163,567 135,250
30,403 5,308 57,294 32,309
57.727 51,242 106,273 102,941
(2,58%) 2,277 {1,116} (3,995)
- {467) - {1,619}

55,146 48,498 105,157 97,327
0.09 0.10 0.18 0.19
0.09 0.10 0.18 0.19

See the acompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS - KEURs)

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating income for the period
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on disposal of tangible and intangible assets
Operating income before changes in working capitak:
Accounts receivable
Loans receivable and advances
Taxes receivable
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Other currant liabitities
Other long-term liabilities
Cash provided by operating activities
Taxes paid
Net cash provided from operating activities

Cash flows from Investing activities
Additions to tangible assets
Additions to intangible assets
Acquisitions of minority interests in subsidiaries
Acquisitions of associates
Creation of assaciates
Increase in share capital from associates
Interest received
Purchase of investments
Cash proceeds from certain derivative agreements
Loans to affiliates
Disposals of other investments
Dividends received
Disposals of tangible and intangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activitiesa
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayments of borrowings
Interest paid
Proceeds from sale and lease back agreement
Payments of finance lease liabilities
Net cash used in financing activities.

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at baginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

For the six month period ended

June 30,
2000 1999
{Unaudited)
149,381 129,845
58,516 49 661
- 2,982
207,897 182,498
{56,706) (15,195}
{174) {1,362)
34,634 11,281
{4,094} {4,922}
561 7,769
327 4,458
238 {1,643)
182,683 182,884
(30,620) 130,299)
151,963 152.585
(26,748) {36,534}
{21,865) {20,421)
- {2,064}
{386) {13,729}
{1,008} -
{350) -
2,833 1,231
(6,975) {13.658)
23,599 -
{584} -
177 20,257
4,847 -
6,039 -
{20,421) (64,918)
28,114 236,056
{143,269 (320,015}
{9,593} {14,084}
762 14,933
(10,594} {9,118)
(134,570} 192,228}
{354, {1,005}
{3,063} {5,566)
15,726 17,859
12,663 12,293

See the acompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
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Retained
Additional earnings Cumulative
Share Treasury paid-in {accumulated  translation
Capital stock capital deficit) adjustmants Total
Balance as of
December 31, 1988
{KECUs} 44,343 - - {71,133) 2,682 {24,108}
Gains [losses) not
recognized in the
statement of income - - - 2,078 2,078
Net income for the
period - - - 97,327 - 97,327
Balance as of
June 30, 1999 44,343 - - 26,194 4,760 75,287
Retained
Additional earnings Cumulative
Share Treasury paid-in {accumulated translation
Capital stock capital deficit) adjustments Total
Balance as of
December 31, 1999 37,338 {38,152) 424,067 (14,77Q) 9,226 417,709
Movements in
rasarves for treasury
stock - - 4 (4) -
Disposals /
{acquisitions) of
treasury stock 4 4
Gains {losses} not
recognized in the
statement of income {1,200} {1,200}
Net income for the
period - - 105,157 - 105,157
Balance as of
June 30, 2000 37,338 {38,148) 424,071 80,383 8,026 521,670

* Except where indicated otherwise

Sese the acompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements,
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURSs)

1. Organization

The consolidated financial statements include Amadeus Global Travel Distribution,
S.A., domiciled in Spain (“the Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (“the
Group”). The Company is a ieading information technology company serving the
marketing, sales and distribution needs of the global travel and tourism industry.
Its world-wide data network and database of trave} information are used by travel
agencies and airline sales offices. Today, travel agencies and airline offices can
make bookings with airiines, hotel chains, car rental companies, and newer groups
of providers such as ferry, rail, cruise, insurance and tour operators. The Group
provides the above-mentioned services through a computerised reservation system
{“CRS"}).

2. Basis of presentation

The accompanying June 30, 2000 consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard {IAS) 34, “Interim
Financial Reporting”, and under the historical cost convention. The same
accounting policies and methods of computation have been followed as compared
with the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 1999. The interim
consolidated financial statements do not include all of the information and
footnotes required by IAS for complete financial statements. In the opinion of
management, these financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting of
normal recurring accruals, necessary to present fairly the financial position, results
of operations and cash flows for the periods indicated.

In December 1997, within the context of the Group’s reorganisation, Amadeus
Data Processing GmbH {a Group subsidiary} acquired Amadeus Data Processing
GmbH and Co. KG ("Amadeus Operations KG” — a German partnership), formerly
owned by the shareholders of Amadeus Global Travel Distribution, S.A. At the
same time, Amadeus Operations KG was dissolved and its assets and liabilities
transferred to Amadeus Data Processing GmbH.

dozs
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURs)

In compliance with legal regulatory requirements the Company “s management also
prepares as of June 30, 2000 selected consolidated financial information under
Spanish GAAP. Under IAS the Company accounted for the transaction mentioned
above in a manner similar to a uniting of interests. Under Spanish GAAP, the
Company accounted for this transaction by the purchase method, which differs
significantly from the method applied under IAS. The payment 10 the shareholders
for this acquisition was treated, for |AS accounting purposes, similar to the
payment of a dividend. Primarily as a consequence of this difference in accounting
principles, the consolidated net equity reflected under Spanish GAAP exceeds the
equity reflected under IAS as of June 30, 2000 by approximately 218.4 million
EURs. This difference results primarily from the excess of the purchase price over
the net book value of Amadeus Operations KG, and after deducting the net effect
of tax credits derived from the acquisition.

Use of estimates and assumptions as determined by management is required in the
preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles. Actual results could differ from those estimates
and assumptions. Certain amounts for prior periods have been reclassified to
conform with the 2000 presentation.

The Group’s results typically show some fluctuations between quarters. Lower
revenues are generally recorded in the peak European and North American holiday
periods of July/August and Christmas and revenues tend to be slightly higher in
the first two quarters of the year than in the last two.

3. Segment information

dhoze

The Group operates in the travel industry, and accordingly events that significantly
affect the industry could also affect the Group’s operations and financial position.
The following geographical distribution of revenue is based primarily on the
country where the bookings were made and, with respect to bookings made
through the Group’s CRS directly with airlines, based on the home country of the
airline:

For the six manth period ended

June 30,
2000 1999
Europe 498,678 424,870
u.s. 129,460 124,394
Rast of the world 155,187 127,841
Total revenue 783,325 677,105
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURS)

Due to the geographical distribution of the Group s activities and infrastructure, it
is not meaningful to segment geographically global results and working capital for
the purposes of IAS 14.

The following geographical distribution of assets is based on the country where
the assets were located or they relate to.

June 30, 2000
Assets used

for general
Rest of the  enterprise
Europe us world puUrposes Total
Tangible assets 223,078 29,333 5,782 - 268,193
Intangible assets 16,925 82,199 2,716 64,945 166,785
Investments in
associates 118,881 1,961 24,268 - 145,110
Total assets 358,884 113,493 32,766 64,945 570,088
December 31, 1989
Assets used
for general
Rest of the  enterprise
Europe us world purposes Total
Tangible assets 223,916 29,227 4,500 - 257,643
Intangible assets 18,287 85,268 3.017 62,387 168,929
Investments in
associates 122,136 1,860 24,698 - 148,694
Total assets 364,309 116,355 32,215 62,387 575,266

The amount shown above in investment in associates together with other
investments of KEURs 23,425 and KEURs 16,166, as of June 30, 2000 and
December 31, 1999, respectively, are included in the long-term investments
caption in the balance sheet.
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURSs)

4. Taxation

The reconciliation between the statutory tax rate in Spain and the effective tax
rate applicable to the Group is as follows:

Six months ended

June 30,
2000 1999

% %

Statutory tax rate in Spain a5 35
Creation of deferred tax asset — taxes recoverable upon payment of

subsidiary dividends {2)

Recognition of benefit of unused tax losses and deferred tax assets - (16}

Effect of higher tax rates in other countries 2 3

Permanent differences {n -

Other (1} 4

Effective tax rate 35 24
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURs)

5. Related party balances and transactions

Below is a summary of significant balances and transactions with affiliates. All
transactions with affiliates are carried out on an arm’s length basis.

a) Accounts receivables - affiliates

The receivables are primarily for revenues earned from world-wide bookings made
through the Amadeus CRS for flights on the shareholders’ airlines. Total revenues
earned by the Group from affiliates for the six-month periods ended June 30,
2000 and 1999, were KEURs 236,383 and 217,514, respectively.

b} Loans receivable and advances - affiliates

Total interest earned by the Group from affiliates on loans receivable and advances
was KEURs 302 and 64 for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2000 and
1999, respectively. Interest rates for these loans denominated in United States
Dollars {USD), Australian Dollars (AUD), and EURs ranged from 4.75% to 9% for
the six-month period ended June 30, 2000. For the six-month period ended June
30, 1999 the interest rate was between 6.5% and 8%.

c) Accounts payable - affiliates

The payables arise primarily from distribution fees due for bookings made through
associates and airline shareholders. Total operating expenses incurred by the
Group with its affiliates were KEURs 181,246 and 145,926 for the six-month
periods ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

doz29
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURs)

6. Additional income statement data and related disclosures

a) The Group’s personnel expense and number of employees are as follows:

For the six month period ended

June 30,
2000 1999
Gross personnel costs 103,612 87,861
Less amount capitalized 3,603 3,491
Net charge to income 100,009 84,370
Average number of employees 2,881 2,677
b) The Group’s net interest expense is as follows:
For the six month period ended
June 30,
2000 1999
interest expense 9,582 14,535
Less interest income 2,833 1,230
Net interest expense 6,749 13,305

c) Research and development

Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred, except for
significant software projects, which have reached development stage and are
capitalized. Research and development costs were KEURs 26,030 and 21,330 for
the six-month periods ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

d} Stock Incentive Plans

Total expense recognized relating to stock grants, including social costs, for the
six-month period ended June 30, 2000 is of KEURs 1,675. During the six-month
period ended June 30, 2000 the Group delivered less than 1,000 shares to
participants in the stock grant plans. As of June 30, 2000 the number of shares
required in order to meet the obligations under these plans was of 1,358,880 and
2,480,079 for the stock grant and option plans, respectively.
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURs)

e) Other income
i) Equant Depository Certificates

In February 1999, the Group sold 311,475 Equant N.V. depository certificates
generating a pre-tax prafit of KEURs 18,403, which is recognised in other income.

it) Certain derivative agreements

The Group has entered into certain derivative transactions in order to manage the
exposure that may arise from potential commercial agreements. A pre-tax profit of
KEURs 22,280 is included in other income as a result of the variation in the fair
value of the derivatives as of June 30, 2000.

7. Net income per share

Following the share split which took place in 1999, the calculation of net income
per share for all periods presented herein is adjusted retrospectively.

The adjusted weighted average number of shares outstanding as of June 30, 1999
was 506,187,709 and 314,378,379 class A and B shares, respectively.

The calculation of the weighted average number of shares outstanding as of June
30, 2000 is as follows:

Adjusted shares Weighted average
outstanding as of Shares outstanding as of  shares outstanding as
December 31, 1999 June 30, 2000 of June 30, 2000
Weighted average
number of class “A”
shares outstanding 583,364,918 583,365,639 583,365,239
Expected
retirement of
Secondary
Adjusted shares Offering and
outstanding as of private Weighted average
December 31, placement “B”  Shares outstanding  shares outstanding as
1999 shares as of June 30, 2000 of June 30, 2000
Weighted average
number of ciass "B"
shares outstanding 275,367 810 55,384,710 219,983,100 265,008,748
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURs)

The calculation of the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding as
of June 30, 2000 is as follows:

Adjusted
diluted shares Weighted average diluted
outstanding as of Diluted shares outstanding shares outstanding as of
December 31, 1999 as of June 30, 2000 June 30, 2000
Weighted average
number of diluted
class “A” shares
outstanding 587,253,142 587,253,142 587,253,142
Adjusted
diluted shares Expected retirement of Weighted average
outstanding as of Secondary Offering and Diluted shares diluted shares
December 31, private placement “B" outstanding as of outstanding as of
1999 shares June 30, 2000 June 30, 2000
Weighted average
number of diluted
class “B” shares
outstanding 275,367,810 55,384,710 219,983,100 265,008,748
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)

(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURs)

The calculation of basic earnings per share {rounded to two significant digits) for

the six-month periods ended June 30, is as follows:

2000

1999

Net income in KEURs 105,157
Weighted average number of

class “A” shares outstanding 583,365,239
Weighted average number of

class “B" shares outstanding 265,008,748

97,327
505,187,709
314,378,379

Basic earnings per class “A” share,
in EURs 0.18

0.19

Basic eamings per class “B” share,

@033

in EURs -

The calcuiation of diluted earnings per share (rounded to two significant digits) for

the six-month periods ended June 30, is as follows:

2000 1999

Net income, in KEURs 105,157 97,327
Weighted average number of

diluted class “A” shares

outstanding 587,253,142 505,187,709
Weighted average number of

diluted class “B" shares

outstanding 265,008,748 314,378,379

Diluted eamings per class “A”
share, in EURs _ 0.18

0.19

Diluted eamings per class “8"
share, in EURs -
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2000 (UNAUDITED)
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS — KEURs)

8. Additional statement of cash flows related disclosure

The components of cash and cash equivalents were as follows:

June 30,
2000 1999
Cash on hand and balances with banks 8,969 9,190
Short-term investments 3,694 3,103
12,663 12,293
9. Investments in subsidiaries and associates

a) Creation of associates

Investments made during the six month period ended June 30, 2000 include the
establishment of Red Universal de Marketing y Booking On Line, S.A. and ICSA-T
L.L.C. for a total of KEURs 1,008.

o) Acquisition of associates

The Group has made an additional investment, during the six month period ended
June 30, 2000, in Amadeus Brasil Ltda. amounting to KEURs 381.

c) Increase in share capital of associates

During the six month period ended June 30, 2000 the Group has made an
additional investment of KEURs 350 in Katama S.p.A., the ltalian company jointly
owned with L'Espresso Group.

10. Subsequent events

On July 14, 2000 the German tax authorities approved a reduction in the German
corporate income tax rate effective January 1, 2001. Due to this change in the tax
rates, the Group will need to recalculate its deferred tax assets originating in
Germany to reflect the new rates at which these assets will be realized. The
expected effect to be recognised in the September 30, 2000 quarterly financial
statements is a reduction in equity of KEURs 15,137 and a charge in the income
statement of KEURs 326.

10
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Amadeus Global Travel
Distribution, S.A.

Informacién financiera consolidada

para los perfodos de seis meses terminados a
30 de junio de 2000 y 1983

preparada de acuerdo con

Normas Internacionales de Contabilidad

(NO AUDITADOS)
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

BALANCES DE SITUACION CONSOLIDADOS
(EXPRESADOS EN MILES DE EUROS (KEURs)}

30 de junio 31 de diciembre

ACTIVO de 2000 de 1999

{No auditado)

Active circulante

Tesoreria y otros productos equivalentes 12.663 15.726
Clientes por ventas y prestaciones de sarvicios 150.948 116.198
Empresas asociadas deudoras 60.766 41.415
Créditos a empresas asociadas 1.252 1.195
Administraciones Pablicas Deudoras 22.840 57.945
Ajustes por periodificacién y otros activos 21.108 17.283

269.564 249.762

Total activo circulante

Inmovilizacionas materiales

Tarrenos y edificios 128.542 117.669
Equipos de proceso de datos 288.344 275.911
Otros 88.9356 85.143
505.821 478.723
Menos amortizacidn acumulada 247.628 221.080
Inmovilizaciones materiales netas 258.193 257.643
Inmevilizaciones inmateriales
Patentes, licencias y marcas 44,521 44.485
Proyectos da desarrollo de aplicaciones informéticas 107.665 97.998
Derechas intangibles 143.697 131.302
Fondo de comercio 46,958 45.264
Otros 11.846 12.323
- 354.687 331.372
Menos amortizacién acumulada 187.902 162.443
Inmovilizacionas inmateriales netas 166.785 168.929
impuestos anticipados 175.021 170.806
Créditos a empresas asociadas 6.201 5.601
Inversiones a largo plazo 168.53b 164.860

Total activo 1.044.,299 1.017.601
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

BALANCES DE SITUACION CONSOLIDADOS
(EXPRESADOS EN MILES DE EUROS (KEURs))

PASIVO

Acraeedores a corto plazo
Acreedores comerciales
Deudas con empresas asociadas
Deudas a corto plazo

Daudas con entidades da crédito por arrendamiento
financiero a corto plazo
Impuesto sobre Sociedades a pagar

Otras deudas
Totat acreedores a corto plazo

Acreadores a largo plazo
Deudas a largo plazo

Deudas con entidades de crédito por arrendamiento
financiero a largo plazo
Otras deudas

Total acreedores a largo plazo

Fondos proplos
Capital suscrito
Acciones Propias
Prima de emision

Resultados acumulados {resultados negativos de
ejercicios anteriores)
Diferencias de conversion

Total fondos propios

Total pasivo y fondos propios

30 de junio 31 de diciembre
de 2000 de 1999
(No auditado}

114.683 118.943
53.057 45,885
12.542 58.53%
15.123 18.252
35.104 6.406
48.608 48.168

279.117 296,189
81.437 150.371

131.375 126.027
30.700 27.305

243.512 303.703
37.338 37.338

{38.148} (38.152)

424.071 424.067
90.383 {14.770)

8.026 9.226

521.670 417.709

1.044.299 1.017.601
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CUENTAS DE PERDIDAS Y GANANCIAS CONSOLIDADAS

(EXPRESADQS EN MILES DE EUROS (KEURs})
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Periodo de tres m

Perlodo de seis meses

finalizado el 30 de junio de

finalizado el 30 de junio de

2000 1999 2000 1999
{No auditado} {No auditado)

Importe neto de la cifra de negocios 389.926 340.820 783.325 677.105
Coste de ventas 303.167 262,310 603.531 519,742

Beneficig bruto 86.7569 78,510 179.794 157,363
Gastos de venta, generales y administracién 16.382 13,807 30.413 27,518
Beneficios de explotacién 70.377 64.703 149.381 129.845
Otros ingresos (gastos)

Intereses netos (3.013} {6.004} {6.749) {13.305)

Diferencias positivas/(negativas) de cambio {1.652) {1.203) {2.565) {131)

Otros 22.418 {946) 23.500 18.841
Beneficios antes de impuestos 88.130 56.550 163.567 135.2560
impuesto sobre Sociedades 30.403 5.308 57.294 32.309
Beneficios después de impuestos 57.727 51.242 106.273 102.941
Beneficios (pérdidas) de sociedades puestas en

equivalencia {2.581) {2.277) {1.116) {3.995)
Resultado atribuido a socios externos ) (467) ) (1.619)
Beneficios del ejercicio 55.148 48,498 105.157 97.327
Beneficio neto basico por accidn de clase “A" en

EURs/ECUs 0,09 0,10 0,18 0,19
Beneficio neto basice por accién de clase "B” en

EURs/ECUs - - - -
Beneficio neto por accién diluida de clase "A” en

EURs/ECUs 0,09 0,10 0,18 0.19

Beneficio neto por accion diluida de clase

EURs/ECUs

“B" en
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AMADEUS GLOBAL TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION, S.A.

NOTAS SELECTIVAS
(EXPRESADOS EN MILES DE EUROS (KEURs})

AMADEUS GTD S.A.

Tesoreria procedente de las actividades operativas
Benaficios de explotacion
Ajustes por:
Amortizaciones
Pérdidas en enajenacidn de inmovilizado material e inmaterial
Beneficios de explotacién antes de cambios en el capital circulante
Cuentas a cobrar
Préstamos y anticipos a cobrar
Administracionaes Puablicas
Otros activos cirgulantes
Cuentas a pagar
Otros pasivos circulantes
Otros pasivos a largo plazo
Tesorerfa procedente de las actividades operativas
Impuesto sobre Sociedades pagado
Tesoreria neta procedente de las actividades operativas

Tesoreria aplicada en las actividades de inversién
Adquisiciones de inmovilizado material
Adguisiciones de inmovilizado inmaterial
Aquisicién de interases minoritarios en sociedades filiales
Adquisiciones de sociedades puestas en equivalencia
Suscripeidn de capital en sociedades de nueva creacion puestas
equivalencia
Ampliacién de capital en sociedades puestas en equivalencia
Intereses cobrados
Compra de otras inversiones financieras
Ingresos por ciertos contratos de derivados
Préstamos a empresas asociadas
Venta de otras inversiones financieras
Dividendos recibidos
Enajenaciones de inmovilizado material
Tesoreria neta aplicada en las actividades de invergién

Tescrerfa aplicada en las actividades de financiacién
Disposiciones de préstamos
Amortizacion de préstamos
Intereses pagados
Tesorerla recibida por “sale and lease back agreement”
Pagos por arrendamientos financieros
Tesoreria neta aplicada an las actividades de financiacién

Efecto de las diferancias de cambio sobre tesoreria
Aumento {disminucién) neto en tesoreria
Tesoreria vy otros productos equivalentes al principio del ejercicio

Tesoreria ¥ otros productos equivalantes al final del ejercicio

Perfodo de seis mesas
finalizado el 30 de junio de

2000 1999
{No auditado}

149.381 129.845
53.516 49.661

- 2.992
207.897 182.498
{66.706) {15.198)
{(174) (1.362)
34.534 11.281
{4.094) {4.922)
561 7.769

az27 4.458
238 {1.643)
182.583 182.884
{30.620) {30.299)
151.963 152.685
{26.748) {36.534)
{21.865) (20.427)
- {2.064)
{386} {13.729)
{1.008) -
{350) -
2.833 1.231
(6.975) {13.658}
23.599 -
(584} -

177 20.257
4.847 -
6.039 -
(20.421) (64.918)
28.114 236.056
{143.259) {320.015)
{9.593) {14.084)
762 14.933
{10.594} {9.118)
{134.570) {92.228)
{35) {1.005)
{3.063) {5.566)
15.726 17.859
12.663 12.293

do3g
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Amadeus G_lobal Travel
Distribution, S.A

Reconciliation of IAS Financial Statements lo
Spanish GAAP Financial Statements with regard
to net income and shareholders’equity for the
six-month periods ended June 30, 2000 and
1999.
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RECONCILIATION OF IAS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO SPANISH GAAP
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH REGARD TO NET INCOME AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY.

Amadeus Global Travel Distribution, S.A. (“the Company”) prepares consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Spain (Spanish
GAAP), and also in accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS). In general,
the classifications of balances in the financial statements differ under Spanish GAAP and
International Accounting Standards and different levels of disclosure are also required in the
respective notes. Furthermore, under Spanish GAAP it is not obligatory to include
statements of cash flow, nor a calculation of earnings per share.

The main differences affecting net income and sharcholders’ equity for the six-month
periods ended June 2000 and 1999 are set out below. Figures are expressed in thousand (K)
Euros, unless stated otherwise.

Reconciliation of Net Income

Six months ended

June 30,
2000 1999

Net Income — Spanish GAAP (in millions of pesetas) 14,970 13,965
Exchange rate (Pta - Euros) 166.386 166.386
Net Income-Spanish GAAP 80,972 83,931
Adjustments for IAS purposes:

Acquisition of Amadeus Operations KG 10,967 10,545

Amortization of IPO costs 2,443 -

Other 1,775 2,851
Net Income-IAS 105,157 97,327
Equivalent in millions of pesetas 17,497 16,194

Reconciliation of Shareholders’ Equity

Six months ended

June 30,
2000 1999
Shareholders’ equity-Spanish GAAP (in millions of pesetas) 123,133 42,628
Exchange rate (Pta - Euros) 166.386 166.386
Shareholders’ equity Spanish GAAP 740,044 256,199
Adjustments for IAS purposes:
Acquisition of Amadeus Operations KG (164,006) (185,943)
Treasury shares (38,148) -
[PO costs, net (21,063) -
Other 4,843 5,041
Sharcholders’ equity-IAS 521,670 75,297

Equivalent in millions of pesetas 86,799 12,528
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Explanatory analysis of differences

1.

Acquisition of Amadeus Operations KG

In accordance with IAS, the acquisition of Amadeus Data Processing GmbH and Co.
KG (Amadeus Operations KG - a German company), which took place at the end of
1997, was accounted for in a manner similar to a pooling of interests. Accordingly, the
prior periods’ financial statements, prepared in accordance with IAS, include the
combined results of operations, financial position and cash flows of Amadeus
Operations KG as though it had always been a subsidiary of the Company. The price
paid to the shareholders was accounted for as a reduction in shareholders’ equity
(retained eamings), while the deferred tax asset corresponding to the tax credit for the
future amortisation of goodwill was accounted for as an increase in shareholders’ equity
(retained earnings). In accordance with Spanish GAAP, this transaction was accounted
for as an acquisition, recording the resulting goodwill, which is being amortised over a
period of 10 years.

Treatment of acquired Treasury shares

In accordance with IAS, Treasury shares must be shown in the balance sheet as a .

deduction from Shareholders’ equity. Under Spanish GAAP, Treasury shares are
presented as an asset, stated at the lower of cost or market.

Initial Public Offering (IPO) expenses

In accordance with IAS, expenses relating to the Initial Public Offering for subscription
of shares are considered as a reduction in Shareholders’ equity and deducted from
additional paid-in capital. Under Spanish GAAP, such expenses are capitalised and
amortised over a period of five years.

Others
This heading includes other differences, such as:
- Unrealised exchange gains — In accordance with IAS, unrealised exchange gains

are recognised currently in the statement of income. Under Spanish GAAP, in
general terms, unrealised exchange gains are deferred until they are realised.

- Rights on assets acquired under finance leases — In accordance with IAS the right of
use of certain assets mainly land, buildings and other installations located in Erding
(Germany) associated with the Computerized Reservation System (CRS) has been
accounted for as assets under finance lease. For Spanish GAAP purposes, in prior
years the respective leases were recorded as operating leases and not included as
assets, as it was understood that the requirements for capitalization under Spanish
GAAP were not met. However, for the six-month period ended 30 June 1999 as a
result of a change in circumstances in the business and alternative uses of the assets,
which provide enough basis to consider it as a finance lease, the treatment of the
above mentioned contracts has been changed. The effect of this change of
circumstances is a charge to extraordinary expenses in the statements of income for
the six-month period ended 30 June 1999 amounting to Pta 475 million.
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Amadeus Global Travel
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CONCILIACION DE LOS ESTADOS FINANCIEROS CONSOLIDADOS
INTERMEDIOS PREPARADOS DE ACUERDO CON NORMAS INTERNACIONALES
- DE CONTABILIDAD (NIC) Y BALANCE DE SITUACION Y CUENTA DE PERDIDAS
Y GANANCIAS CONSOLIDADOS INTERMEDIOS PREPARADOS DE ACUERDO
CON PRINCIPIOS CONTABLES GENERALMENTE ACEPTADOS EN ESPANA

(PCGA ESPANOLES)

Amadeus Global Travel Distribution, S.A. (“la Sociedad™) junto con sus filiales (en su
conjunto “el Grupo™) prepara un balance de situacién y cuenta de pérdidas y ganancias
consolidados intermedios de acuerdo con Principios Contables Generalmente Aceptados en
Espafia (PCGA espaiioles) asi como estados financieros consolidados intermedios de acuerdo
con Normas Intermacionales de Contabilidad (NIC). Los PCGA espafioles, en general,
requieren diferentes clasificaciones que las NIC para saldos de cuentas dentro de los estados

financieros.

A continuacién se detallan las principales diferencias que afectan al resultado neto y al
patrimonio para los periodos de seis meses terminados el 30 de junio de 2000 y 1999. Todas
las cifras estdn expresadas en miles de Euros, excepto indicacién contraria.

Conciliacion del Resultado Neto

30 de junio de
2000 1999
Resultado neto — PCGA espaiioles {Millones de pesetas) 14.970 13.965
Tipo de cambio (Pta.-ECUs/Euros) 166,386 166,386
Resultado neto — PCGA 8§9.972 83.931
Ajustes para NIC:
Adquisicion de Amadeus Operations KG 10.967 10.545
Amortizacién de costes de OPS 2.443 -
Otros 1.775 2.851
Resultado neto — NIC 105.157 97.327
Equivalente en millones de pesetas 17497 16.194
Conciliacion del Patrimonio Neto
30 de junio de
2000 1999
Fondos propios — PCGA espaioles (Millones de pesetas) 123.133 42.628
Tipo de cambio (Pta.-ECUs/Euros) 166,386 166,386
Fondos propios - PCGA 740.044 256.199
Ajustes para NIC:
Adquisicién de Amadeus Operations KG (164.006) (185.943)
Acciones propias {38.148) -
Gastos de OPS (netos de amortizacién) (21.063) -
Otros 4.843 5.041
Fondos propios — NIC 521.670 75.297
86.799 12.528

Equivalente en millones de pesetas

o044
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Anuilisis explicativo de las diferencias

1.

Adquisicién de Amadeus Operations KG

De acuerdo con NIC, la adquisicién de Amadeus Data Processing GmbH and Co. KG
(Amadeus Operations KG - sociedad de nacionalidad alemana), llevada a cabo a finales
de 1997 fue contabilizada de una manera similar a una “unién de intereses”. En
consecuencia, los estados financieros presentados bajo NIC para los ejercicios
precedentes incluyen, mediante combinacién, los resultados, la posicion financiera y los
estados de flujos de caja de Amadeus Operations KG, tal y como si esta entidad hubiese
sido, siempre, una sociedad dependiente de la Sociedad. El precio pagado a los
accionistas fue contabilizado como una minoracion de fondos propios (reservas),
registrindose ademds un impuesto diferido activo correspondiente al crédito fiscal
derivado de la amortizacién futura del fondo de comercio como un incremento de fondos

propios (reservas). De acuerdo con PCGA espafioles, la mencionada transaccion se
contabilizé como una adquisicién, registrandose el fondo de comercio resultante, que se
esta amortizando en un periodo de 10 afios.

Tratamiento de acciones propias adquiridas

De acuerdo con NIC las acciones propias se presentan en el balance de situacién como
una minoracién del patrimonio neto. Segiin PCGA espafioles se presentan en el activo del
balance de situacién valoradas a precio de adquisicién o valor de mercado, el menor de
los dos.

Gastos de Oferta Piiblica de Suscripcién (OPS)

De acuerdo con NIC, los gastos derivados de la Oferta Publica de Suscripcion de
acciones se consideran como menor valor del patrimonio, reduciendo la prima de
emision. Segiin PCGA espafioles los mencionados gastos se activan y se amortizan en un
periodo de 5 afios.

Otros

Dentro de este epigrafe se incluyen otras diferencias tales como:

- Diferencias positivas de cambio no realizadas - De acuerdo con NIC, las diferencias
positivas de cambio no realizadas se reconocen como ingresos en la cuenta de
pérdidas y ganancias. Segin PCGA espaiioles, las diferencias positivas de cambio no
realizadas se difieren, en general, hasta su realizacion efectiva.
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-  Bienes en régimen de arrendamiento financiero - De acuerdo con NIC, el derecho de
uso sobre determinados activos asociados al Sistema Computerizado de Reservas,
basicamente terrenos, edificios y otras instalaciones, situados en Erding (Alemania) y
pertenecientes a Amadeus Operations KG (y Amadeus Data Processing GmbH como
entidad sucesora) se ha contabilizado como bienes en arrendamiento financiero. A
efectos’ espafioles en ejercicios anteriores la cuota devengada por el servicio de
alquiler se registraba como un gasto del ejercicio al entender que no concurrian en
los citados contratos las circunstancias objetivas exigidas por el Plan General de
Contabilidad y normas de desarrollo para proceder a su activacién. No obstante 1o
anterior, para el ejercicio terminado al 31 de diciembre de 1999 se modificé la
consideracién dada a los citados contratos habida cuenta de la materializacién de
determinadas circunstancias de negocio y de usos alternativos de los activos que
conjuntamente constituyen hechos de naturaleza objetiva para proceder a su
consideracién como un arrendamiento financiero. El efecto del cambio de
consideracién dado a estos contratos ha supuesto un cargo en la ribrica de gastos
extraordinarios de la cuenta de pérdidas y ganancias para el periodo de seis meses
terminado el 30 de junio de 1999 de aproximadamente 475 millones de pesetas.
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Management discussion and analysis of financial conditions and results of
operations.

do4a7

1. Summary

Revenue and net income, excluding special items, have increased 14.4 per cent
and 27.6 per cent respectively, for the three months ending 30 June 2000
compared with the same period in 1999. Growth for the six-month period ending
30 June 2000, excluding special items, was 15.7 per cent in revenue and 41.0 per
cent in net income, over the same period in 1999.

2. For the quarter ending 30 June 2000

Total revenue for the second quarter in 2000 was EUR 389.9m, which represents
an increase of 14.4 per cent over EUR 340.8m for the same period in 1999.

Booking revenue grew by 10.2 per cent, primarily driven by volume growth and
price increases applied from 1 January 2000.

Non-booking related revenue registered 31.3 per cent growth mainly due to (i) the
strong performance of ticketing, dynamic availability and marketing information
products and (iijthe data processing outsourcing contract with Start Amadeus (the
Amadeus National Marketing Company in Germany) which began in the second

half of last year.

Total bookings for the quarter ending 30 June 2000 were 100 million,
representing an increase of 4.5 per cent from 95.7 million for the same period in
1999. Air bookings grew by 4.0 per cent and non-air bookings growth was 9.9 per

cent.

Total air bookings growth, excluding the US markets, was 7.6 per cent. However,
the weak performance in the US has reduced the overalf growth for the period.
Recent data already indicates some recovery in the US, driven by higher bookings
coming from the traditional channels, and also increased bookings coming from
our on-line initiatives. The de-migration of Aerolineas Argentinas as a System User
in the fourth quarter of 1999 is also affecting the quarterly airbookings growth by
approximately 0.8 percentage points. The anniversary of this event will be evident

in the fourth quarter of 2000.

Management expects higher bookings growth worldwide during the second half of
the year, especially in the fourth quarter, primarily driven by further recovery in the
US market and a stronger performance in Europe, South America {(including from
new System User airlines) set against a comparatively weak fourth quarter in
1999, mostly due to travellers’ concerns over Y2K.

Operating expenses for the quarter ending 30 June 2000 were EUR 319.5m,
which represents an increase of 15.7 per cent compared to the same period in

1999.

Page 10of 9
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The increase in cost of sales was 15.6 per cent, mainly driven by: (i) a stronger US
dollar compared to Euro (representing up to 3.3 percentage points of the total
increase) (ii) higher distribution costs and incentives for travel agencies driven in
part by higher bookings (jii) software and data processing expenses, related to the
outsourcing contract with Start Amadeus, which began in the second half of 1999,
and (iv) further technological enhancements to our systems and our product

portfolio.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 18.6 per cent and they
represent 4.2 per cent of total revenue for the quarter ending 30 June 2000. This
increase includes a strengthening of our resources in the Asia Pacific and South

American regional offices.

Operating income and EBITDA for the quarter ended 30 June 2000 were EUR
70.4m and EUR100.1m respectively. The increase in operating income for the
period was 8.8 per cent and the increase in EBITDA was 10.7 per cent. EBITDA
margin for the second quarter was 25.7 per cent, compared to 26.5 per cent for
the same period in 1999.

The US doliar currency exposure has been higher than expected in this quarter.
This is primarily due to (i) changes adopted for the year 2000 by certain US
carriers being billed in Euros instead of US dollars, (ii} lower volume of bookings
billable in US dollars due to fewer bookings than expected in the US and (i} more
US dollar denominated costs. These factors have produced a negative net impact
on operating income of approximately EUR5.8m, representing a reduction of
around 9.0 percentage points in operating income growth and 1.6 percentage
points in operating margin. Management considers that the impact on resuits from
such exposure will be reduced from the year 2001 onwards.

Management expects significant improvements in operating performance during
the second half of the year, especially in the fourth quarter, primarily driven by (i)
higher bookings growth world-wide, and (ii) the anniversary effect of certain costs
related to activities initiated in the second half of 1999,

Net income for the second quarter in 2000, including special items, was
EURS55.1m, which represents an increase of 13.7 per cent from EUR48.5m in
1999. Excluding these special items, net income was EUR40.7m, which
represents an increase of 27.6 per cent from EUR 31.9m in 1999,

do4s

Net income for both quarters includes one-time credits to income in 2000 and
1999: (i) EUR14.5m of after tax income, due to the results of certain derivatives
transactions entered into in order to manage the exposure that may arise from
potential commercial transactions and (i) EUR16.6m of income tax credits in

1999,

3. For the six months ending 30 June 2000

Total revenue for the six month period ending 30 June 2000 was EUR783.3m,
representing an increase of 15.7 per cent from EUR677.1m for the same period in

1999.

Page 2 of 9
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Booking revenue grew by 11 per cent, primarily driven by volume growth and price
increases applied from 1 January 2000.

Non-booking revenue registered growth of 36.2 per cent, primarily due to (i) the
strong performance of ticketing, dynamic availability, link charges and marketing
information products and (iijthe data processing outsourcing contract with Start
Amadeus (the Amadeus National Marketing Company in Germany) which began

in the second half of last year .

Total bookings for the six months period ending 30 June 2000 were 207.3 million,
representing an increase of 5.1 per cent from 197.3 million for the same period in
1999. Air bookings grew by 4.7 per cent and non-air bookings growth was 10 per

cent.

Total air bookings growth, exciuding the US markets, was 8.1 per cent. However,
the weak performance in the US has reduced the overall growth for the period.
Recent data already indicates some recovery in the US, driven by improvements
in the traditional channels and also through more bookings coming from our on-
line initiatives. The de-migration of Aerolineas Argentinas as a System User in the
fourth quarter 1998 which affected the growth in air booking by approximately 0.8
percentage points. The anniversary of this event will be evident in the fourth

quarter 2000.

Management expects higher bookings growth world-wide during the second half of
the year, especially in the fourth quarter, primarily driven by further recovery in the
US market and a stronger performance in Europe and South America (including
from new System User airlines), set against a comparatively weak fourth quarter in
1999, mostly due to travellers’ concerns over Y2K.

Operating expenses for the six months period ended 30 June 2000 were EUR
633.9m, representing an increase of 15.8 per cent over the same period in 1999.

The increase in cost of sales was 16.1 per cent, mainly driven by: (i} a stronger US
dollar compared to Euro (representing 3.3 percentage points of the total increase)
(if) higher distribution costs and incentives for travel agencies driven in part by
higher bookings (iii) software and data processing expenses, related to the
outsourcing contract with Start Amadeus, which began in the second half of last
year (iv) further enhancements to systems and our product portfolio.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 10.5 per cent, and they
represent 3.9 per cent of total revenue for the six-month period ending 30 June
2000. This increase includes a strengthening of our resources in the Asia Pacific

and South American regional offices.

Operating income and EBITDA for the six month period ended 30 June 2000
were EUR149.4m and EUR207.9m respectively. The increase in operating income
for the period was 15 per cent and the increase in EBITDA was 15.8 per cent.
EBITDA margin for the six months period was 26.5 per cent, unchanged from the

same period in 1999,
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The US dollar currency exposure has been higher than expected in this period.
This is primarily due to (i) changes adopted for the year 2000 by certain US
carriers due to their being billed in Euros instead of US dollars (ii) lower volume of
bookings billable in US dollars due to fewer bookings than expected in the US, and
(iii) more US dollar denominated costs. These factors have produced a negative
net impact on operating income of approximately EUR10m, representing a
reduction of around 7.7 percentage points in operating income growth and 1.5
percentage points in operating margin. Management considers that the impact on
resuits from such exposure will be reduced from 2001 onwards. :

Management expects significant improvements in operating performance during
the second half of the year, especially in the fourth quarter, primarily driven by (i)
higher bookings growth, and (ii) the anniversary effect of certain costs related to
activities initiated in the second haif of 1999.

Net income for the six month period in 2000, including special items, was EUR
105.2m, representing an increase of 8 per cent over EUR97.3m in 1999. Excluding
these special items, net income was EURS0.7m, which represents an increase of

41 per cent from EUR64.3m in 1999.

Net income for both periods includes one-time credits to income in 2000 and 1999:
(i) EUR14.5m of after tax income, due to the results of certain derivatives
transactions entered into in order to manage the exposure that may arise from
potential commercial transactions and (ii} EUR16.6m of income tax credits as well
as EUR16.4m after tax profits from the sale of Equant depository certificates in

February 1999,

4. Business highlights in the first haif of 2000

Travel Distribution

¢ British Airways and Qantas have selected Amadeus as their technological
partner for the outsourcing of their reservation facilities, including certain
hosted airlines, and will become Amadeus System Users in a 10 year contract.
Further news about this development will be announced shortly

+ Austrian Airlines Group, which includes Austrian Airlines, Lauda Air and
Tyrolean Airways, and South American airlines LanChile, Ladeco and
LanPeru have been successfully implemented as System Users. Further
airlines are also expected to join the existing 120 contracted System Users,
with Amadeus already well positioned as the leading choice for the distribution
requirements of airline alliances

» In the Middle East and Africa, Amadeus has been chosen as an official
distribution system to be used by several airline members of the Arab Air
Carriers Organisation (AACO). The airlines selecting Amadeus include: Air
Algerie, Libyan Arab Airlines, , Qatar Airways, Royal Air Maroc, Sudan Airways
and Tunis Air. Where not aiready established, each of these carriers will also
set up a National Marketing Company (NMC) with Amadeus in their home
territory, which may be jointly held by the local carrier and Amadeus. Some of
these carriers plan to use Amadeus in their own sales offices. jnining the 120

Page 4 of 9
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other contracted System User airlines that outsource their entire reservation
and sales functions to Amadeus

* In April, Amadeus signed a multi-year agreement with Carlson Wagonlit
Travel, a world leader in corporate travel and expense management. In
addition to the traditionai GDS relationship, Amadeus and Carlson Wagonlit
Travel will look at opportunities to partner in other strategic initiatives.

E-Commerce

* Amadeus has entered into a partnership with 1travel.com, a ieading US Web
site for comprehensive discount travel. This partnership also sees Amadeus
take an equity investment in 1travel.com and seat on their Board. 1travel.com
has fully integrated Amadeus as its GDS, and Amadeus will contribute
technological expertise and strategic direction to expand further consumer

access to low cost travel

e eviaggi.com, an internet based travel agency serving the ltalian market,
became fully operational at the beginning of April. This 50-50 joint-venture,
between Amadeus and Gruppo L’Espresso, is now attracting some 1.5 million
page views monthly. Bookings activity is expected to accelerate further as new
marketing activity is deployed, and eviaggi.com becomes more established in

the minds of Italian consumers

» The 50-50 joint-venture with Terra Networks, the majority-owned subsidiary of
Telefénica, to establish an Internet based travel agency serving the Spanish
and Portuguese speaking countries completed the first phase of its
development. The travel site became operational for Spanish consumers, in
pilot form, on 24 July. In the coming months, the content and reach of the site
will be extended further, taking in Portugal and South America

» An agreement was signed with BTopenworld, British Telecom’s new mass
market Internet business, to create a new joint venture company to launch a
range of online travel services within the UK and lreland. This Internet travel
site is expected to be fully operational during the fourth quarter of 2000

« Further regional joint ventures with strong local partners, to provide online
travel services, are expected to be announced and implemented shortly

» Amadeus and BroadVision Inc. have entered into a strategic alliance to
develop a global online travel booking application that will power a new
generation of personalised e-commerce travel services {add text on B2E
plans). In a separate agreement, with Bank of America, Hewlett Packard and
BroadVision, Amadeus will provide its travel booking functionality for a new
B2E (business to employee) platform to be launched in the US market

¢ The corporate travel product SAP R/3 Travel Planning, developed in
partnership with SAP and using Amadeus technolocgy, has compieted a
successful pilot phase. Corporations such as Bayer, Merck and Deutsche
Bank have now agreed to use SAP R/3 Travel Planning, with further clients
expected to sign up in the coming months. Amadeus also announced the first
of several parlnership to support SAPS 7273 Trowct Llanagement System uncder

Page 5 of 9



03/08

'00 THU 12:01 FAX 34 1 5820144 AMADEUS GTD S.A.

its Travel Agency Certification Programme, with American Express
Corporate Services

¢ Lotus Notes Development Corporation and Amadeus have announced the
creation of a joint competence centre to develop and market solutions for the
growing corporate travel management market

¢ In March, Amadeus launched Wireless Travel Management (WTM) which
provides the technology to distribute travel services through any Wireless
Application Protocol (WAP) enabled device. WTM was developed in
partnership with Ericsson and Smart (Amadeus’s distribution partner in
Scandinavia). It debuted with Norwegian airline Widerge, and enables users to
check flight availability and book or cancel flights with some 500 airlines. As
mobile Internet access becomes easier, facilitated by technological advances,
travel-related traffic is expected to be a key element of m-commerce.
Amadeus will continue to play a leading part in this area.

Information Technology Services

A significant first step has been taken in iT Services, adding a new business line to
Amadeus as part of a natural extension of the unique System User concept.

+ British Airways and Qantas have selected Amadeus as their technological
partner for the outsourcing of their Inventory and Departure Control Systems
and other passenger management services, in a 10 year contract that also
includes certain hosted airlines. More details of this partnership will be

announced shortly.

In the future, additional airlines are expected to select Amadeus as their IT
partner, thereby helping to position Amadeus as a leading player in the provision
of IT services to airlines and airline ailiances.

Secondary offering and per cent of class A shares held by public.

In June 2000, following earlier secondary share offerings by Amadeus’ airline
shareholders, the free float in Amadeus Class A shares was increased from 25 per
cent to 40.08 per cent of the total. This pre-empts possible changes in the way
weightings of Madrid’s IBEX-35 index, of which Amadeus is a member, are
expected to be calculated from September 2000. The airline sharehoiders current
Class A shareholdings in Amadeus are: Air France (23.36 per cent), lberia (18.28
per cent) and Lufthansa (18.28 per cent). Each airline has committed to
maintaining their remaining holdings at this level untii at least 28 February 2001.

5. 2000 Qutlook

Amadeus will continue to pursue its industry leadership in terms of overall revenue
and earnings growth.

In e-commerce provision to end-users, Amadeus plans to consolidate its strategy
of providing e-travel technology and booking engine facilities, as well as being a
lendinn nlayer in e-traval Wah aitan throasgh Gethar romagnal inint yenbgens gtk

world-class partners.
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In business-to-business e-commerce, Amadeus expects to benefit from its
enhanced suite of corporate products, partnering with SAP and Lotus Notes.

Amadeus intends to continue its partnership with Ericsson and other providers in
order to develop further the technology to distribute travel services through mobile

phones and PDAs.

With the British Airways and Qantas agreements progressing well, this year will
see Amadeus begin building a common technological platform for providing IT
services to airlines and airline alliances, as a natural extension of the unique
Amadeus System User concept for distribution requirements.

Note 1:

This document contains certain forward-looking statements and information that
are based on the current expectations of the Company’s management as well as
assumptions based on information available to the Company. Such statements
reflect the current views of the Company or its management with respect to future
events and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements of the
Company that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these statements. The
Company does not intend, and does not assume any obligation, to update or
revise forward-looking statements set forth in this document, whether on the basis
of new information, future events or otherwise.
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AMADEUS

GID S.A.

Selected financial information and operating statistics
For the three month period ended 30 June 2000
{Expressed in thousands EURCQ unless indicated)

For the three month period
ended June 30, 2000
Excluding Exceptional ltems

For the three month period ended
June 30, 2000

Including Exceptional items

%

[dos54

2000 1998 change 2000 1998 % change
{(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Revenue 389,928 340,820 14.4% 389,926 340,820 14.4%
Cost of sales (1) 303,167 262,310 15.6% 303,167 262,310 15.6%
Selling, general and
Administrative expenses (1) 16,382 13,807 18.6% 16,382 13,807 18.6%
Total operating expenses 319,549 276,117 15.7% 319,549 276,117 15.7%
Operating income 70,377 ~ 64,703  8.8% 70,377 4,703 8.8%
Other income (expense)
Interest expense, net (3,013) {6,004) -49.8% {3,013) (6,004) -49.8%
Exchange gains (losses) (1.652) {1,203) 37.3% (1,652) {1,203) 37.3%
Other 138 (946) -114.6% 22,418 {946) -2469.8%
Income before income taxes 65,850 56,550 16.4% 88,130 56,550 55.8%
Income taxes 22,605 21,931 3.1% 30,403 5,308 472.8%
Incomse after taxes 43,245 34,619 24.9% 57,727 51,242 12.7%
Equity In income (losses) from
associates (2,581} {2.277) 13.4% {2,581) (2,277) 13.4%
Minority interests - (467) -100.0% - (467) -100.0%
Net income 40,664 31,875 27.6% 55,146 48,498 13.7%
Other information :
Operating margin [ 18.0% 19.0% | | 18.0% 19.0%
EBITDA (2} 100,102 90,423 10.7% 100,102 90,423 10.7%
EBITDA margin 25.7% 26.5% 25.7% 26.5%
Booking information (thousands) (3}
Air bookings 92,064 88,488 4.0% 92,064 88,488 4.0%
Non air bookings 7,964 7.245 9.9% 7,964 7,245 9.9%
100,028 95,733 4.5% 100,028 95,733 4.5%

{1) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior periods in order to conform with current period

presentation

(2) EBITDA calculated as follows: operating income + operating depreciation/amortisation

{3) These number of bookings are net of cancellations made as of the end of the applicable period and

hafare any estimate Af fotore canenllfinns of Lonbinegs, copatanedieg ¢

OF cancitied)
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03708 '00 THU 12:02 FAX 34 1 5820144 AMADEUS GTD S.A.

Selected financial information and operating statistics
For the six month period ended 30 June 2000
(Expressed in thousands EURO unless indicated)

For the six month period ended For the six month period ended
June 30, 2000 June 30, 2000
Excluding Exceptional ltems Including Exceptional ltems
%
2000 1999 change 2000 1999 % change
(Unaudited) {Unaudited)

Revenue 783,325 677,105 15.7% 783,325 677,105 15.7%
Cost of sales (1) 603,531 519,742 16.1% 603,531 519,742 16.1%
Selling, general and
Administrative expenses {1) 30,413 27,518 10.5% 30,413 27,518 10.5%
Total operating expenses 633,944 547,260 15.8% 633,944 547,260 15.8%
Operating income 149,381 129,845 15.0% 149,381 129,845 15.0%
Other income (expense)

Interest expense, net (6,749) (13,305} -49.3% (6,749) (13,305) -49.3%

Exchange gains {losses) {2,565) (131) 1858.0% (2,565) (131} 1858.0%

Other 1,220 438 178.5% 23,500 18,841 24.7%
Income before income taxes 141,287 116,847 20.9% 163,567 135,250 20.9%
Income taxes 49,496 46,920 5.5% 57,294 32,309 77.3%
Income after taxes 91,791 69,927 31.3% 106,273 102,941 3.2%
Equity in income (losses) from
associates (1,116) (3,995} -72.1% (1,1186) {3,985) -72.1%
Minority interests - {1,619) -100.0% - (1,619) -100.0%

Net income 90,675 64,313 41.0% 105,157 97,327 8.0%

Other information

Operating margin M19.1% 19.2% | [ 19.1% 19.2%
EBITDA (2) 207,917 179,506 15.8% 207,917 179,506 15.8%
EBITDA margin 26.5% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5%
Booking information {thousands} (3}
Air bookings 191,489 182,933 4.7% 191,489 182,933 4.7%
Non air bookings 15,825 14,392 10.0% 15,825 14,392 10.0%
207,314 197,325 5.1% 207,314 197,325 5.1%

(1) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior periods in order to conform with current period

presentation

(2) EBITDA calculated as follows: aperating income + operating depreciation/amartisation

{3) These number of bookings are net of cancellations made as of the end of the applicable period and
before any estimate of future canceflations of bookings outstanding (such as for bookings not yet used

nr e nntndy
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